STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 28 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

BENNIE GOLSTON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000289

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to introduce a color copy of Petitioner's booking photograph at trial when the picture, which showed marks or scratches on Petitioner's face, would have corroborated Petitioner's testimony that he acted in self-defense after his girlfriend "jumped" on him and "clawed" his face, mouth, and nose?

STATEMENT

A Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the May 12, 2009 term of the Court of General Sessions for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN). App. 596-597. His case was called to trial on May 13, 2009 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitors Rhonda Patterson and Kate Whetstone represented the state, and Matthew Buchanan and David Mauldin represented Petitioner. App. 1. On May 14, 2009, the jury found Petitioner guilty. App. 353, ll. 18-22. He was sentenced by Judge McMahon to ten years' imprisonment. App. 367, l. 22 – 368, l. 2.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions. State v. Golston, 399 S.C. 393, 732 S.E.2d 175 (Ct. App. 2012). This Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals. App. 464. The state was represented by Assistant Deputy Attorney General Deborah R.J. Shupe, and Petitioner was represented by LaNelle Durant. App. 417.

On December 27, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 465-476. The state filed a return to this application dated June 13, 2014. App. 477-481. Petitioner filed an amended application for post-conviction relief on April 13, 2015 and a second amended application on October 1, 2015 raising the issue argued in this petition. App. 482-487. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on December 9, 2015 before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. App. 488. Assistant Attorney General Patrick Schmeckpeper represented the state, and Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner. App. 488. By order dated February 1, 2016, Judge Brown denied Petitioner relief. App. 583-595.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to introduce a color copy of Petitioner's booking photograph at trial when the picture, which showed marks or scratches on Petitioner's face, would have corroborated Petitioner's testimony that he acted in self-defense after his girlfriend "jumped" on him and "clawed" his face, mouth, and nose.

Facts at Trial

On the morning of March 22, 2008, movers arrived at Myrtle Johnson's house in Lexington to deliver furniture from her deceased mother's home in New Jersey. When the movers received no response to their knock at the door, they walked to a neighbor's home. The neighbor, Gail Jones, agreed to check on Johnson. Jones entered Johnson's house and found her lying on a mattress in a bedroom with swelling and injuries to her face. App. 150, l. 12 – 151, l. 25.

Jones called 911. App. 153, ll. 7-10. When officers arrived, they asked Johnson what happened. She told them her boyfriend beat her during an argument around midnight the night before. App. 172, l. 6 – 173, l. 1; App. 187, l. 23 – 189, l. 2.

Johnson testified she and Petitioner had been in a relationship for about five years, and that he stayed with her "off and on." Sometimes he stayed with her for an entire week at a time and other times he would only stay a couple of nights. Petitioner also allegedly kept various personal belongings at her house. App. 121, l. 3 – 122, l. 11.

The day before, Johnson's friend, Alfred Hunter, and his wife came over to paint and do repair work to her house since Johnson was moving her mother's furniture into the home the next day. App. 122, l. 15 – 123, l. 21. Johnson claimed Petitioner became jealous of Hunter. App. 124, ll. 7-25. That night, she said Petitioner, who had been drinking, told her "he should beat me for

bringing that man [Hunter] in our home.” App. 124, ll. 7-23. Johnson claimed Petitioner beat her face and head with his fists. She also claimed that, while Petitioner did not hit her with a hatchet, he rubbed the steel over her skin. App. 125, l. 3 – 128, l. 9. Most of the confrontation occurred outside the front of the home after Johnson tried to flee in her car. After the attack, Johnson said she managed to crawl back into the house. She went to sleep and did not wake up until she heard Jones’ voice the next morning. App. 128, l. 11 – 129, l. 9.

During her testimony, Johnson admitted she talked to law enforcement the next morning, but she claimed she did not remember telling officers that no weapons were used in the assault. App. 275, l. 20 – 276, l. 12; App. 276, l. 21 – 277, l. 14. However, neighbor Jones testified that she was in Johnson’s bedroom when the police questioned Johnson and Johnson told the police approximately *three times* that no weapons were used against her during the altercation. App. 278, l. 16 – 279, l. 7.

Deputy Kevin Blake, who responded to Johnson’s house that morning, maintained that Johnson was hit with a piece of firewood and that he found a piece of firewood with hair on it outside the residence. App. 174, l. 7 – 175, l. 19. However, no DNA analysis was conducted on the hair. App. 184, l. 21 – 185, l. 2.

After law enforcement responded, Johnson was taken to the trauma center at Palmetto Richland Hospital. App. 131, l. 23 – 132, l. 20. A C.A.T. scan showed no fractures or broken bones. However, Johnson had a large amount of swelling to her face, and her eyes were swollen shut. She spent a few hours in the emergency room during the day, but was discharged from the hospital later that same evening. App. 228, l. 3 – 231, l. 5.

Petitioner testified that he did not live with Johnson, but that they had an intimate relationship and he occasionally slept at her home. App. 289, ll. 1-4. He said on the night of the

altercation, Johnson became furious with him, and began to leave the home. When he told her to stay, she turned, “jumped” on him, and began “clawing” him in the face. “She clawed him on both sides of his nose” and “cut [his] lip all the way through.” Petitioner admitted he slapped Johnson in self-defense, and that she fell. After she fell, Petitioner went into the house and got a hatchet, but when he got outside, Johnson had calmed down and asked him to help her get up. He put the hatchet on top of the car, helped Johnson up, and left. App. 292, l. 1 – 293, l. 20.

During Petitioner’s testimony, the state presented a black and white copy of Petitioner’s booking photograph from the day of his arrest for this offense along with his booking report. The state asked Petitioner on cross-examination whether “anything on [his] booking report” indicated he “had any injury to [his] face.” Petitioner answered, “No, but ask the police.” App. 299, l. 15 – 301, l. 6. The booking report and photograph were marked for identification as State’s Exhibit No. 26, but the exhibit was never admitted into evidence because it was never properly authenticated. App. 301, l. 7 – 302, l. 7.

The jury ultimately convicted Petitioner of CVDHAN and Judge McMahon sentenced him to the maximum ten years’ imprisonment. App. 353, ll. 18-22; App. 367, l. 22 – 368, l. 2.

PCR Hearing

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that his trial counsel should have introduced a color copy of his booking photograph from his arrest because it showed scratches on his face that would have corroborated his testimony that Johnson “jumped on [him]” and struck him in the mouth, nose, and face. App. 502, l. 18 – 505, l. 12.

Matthew Buchanan, Petitioner’s trial counsel, testified that he received a black and white copy of Petitioner’s booking photograph through discovery. App. 518, l. 23 – 519, l. 3. He tried to obtain a color copy from the detention center, but was never “able to find one.” App. 523, l. 22 –

524, l. 6. Buchanan admitted the color copy of Petitioner's booking photograph, which was admitted as Applicant's Exhibit No. 3 and is on file with this Court, showed "some kind of discolorations right on his cheeks below his eyes." He further admitted that the color copy of Petitioner's booking photograph would have corroborated Petitioner's testimony and self-defense argument if it had been presented at trial. App. 524, ll. 11-23.

Order of Dismissal

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce a color copy of his booking photograph at trial. App. 591. The court stated, "[C]ounsel had access to the smaller, black and white version of the booking photograph. That photograph does not appear to show the presence of any marks or scars, and in fact the report that is attached indicates [Petitioner] had no marks or scars at the time of arrest." App. 591.

Moreover, the court found Petitioner failed to prove any prejudice. App. 592. Specifically, the court found Petitioner failed to present any evidence that the marks on his face in the booking photograph "are consistent with finger nail scratches" or prove when the marks "were made in relation to the time the photograph was taken." App. 592. Additionally, the court stated Petitioner failed to show "that the marks were actually on his face, rather than simply marks on the photograph." App. 592.

Discussion

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to introduce a color copy of Petitioner's booking photograph at trial when the picture, which showed marks or scratches on Petitioner's face, would have corroborated Petitioner's testimony that he acted in self-defense after Johnson "jumped" on him and

“clawed” his face, mouth, and nose. Moreover, counsel’s failure to introduce the colored booking photograph left the testimony elicited from Petitioner by the state that his booking report did not indicate he had any injuries to his face unchallenged since, while the report did state he had no “Scars/Marks/Tattoos,” the booking photograph clearly shows marks or scratches on Petitioner’s face. See App. 370.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; also Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-118, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson, 325 S.C. at 186, 480 S.E.2d at 735 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

Here, trial counsel’s performance was deficient when he failed to obtain and present a color version of Petitioner’s booking photograph from the date of his arrest for this offense. The color version of Petitioner’s booking photograph clearly shows marks or scratches on Petitioner’s face. The PCR court even noted the color booking photograph showed Petitioner had “some sort of facial lacerations.” App. 592. This photograph would have corroborated Petitioner’s testimony

that Johnson “jumped” on him and “clawed” his face during the altercation. It would have also supported Petitioner’s defense that he “slapped” Johnson in self-defense after she attacked him. Therefore, this photograph was crucial to Petitioner’s defense.

Additionally, the PCR court’s finding that “the smaller, black and white version” of Petitioner’s booking photograph, which trial counsel had access to before trial, “does not appear to show the presence of any marks or scars” is without evidentiary support. Even this smaller, black and white version shows a distinctive mark under Petitioner’s right eye. This fact should have put counsel on notice that further investigation was needed to confirm the presence of injuries on Petitioner’s face from Johnson’s attack.

Even if the smaller, black and white version of Petitioner’s booking photograph did not show any marks or scratches on his face, this does not excuse trial counsel’s failure to properly investigate and obtain a color copy of the photograph to present to the jury. A thorough investigation would have revealed this crucial piece of evidence.

Counsel’s failure to obtain the color photograph and present it to the jury constituted deficient performance.