STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000289

RECEIVED

NOV 10 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

BENNIE GOLSTON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

PATRICK SCHMECKPEPER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #102100

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Is there any probative evidence in the record to support the PCR Court's finding that Petitioner did not meet his burden to prove counsel ineffective in failing to obtain a larger, color version of a booking photograph where 1) counsel's investigation was reasonable under the circumstances; and 2) the corroborative value of the photograph – as determined by the fact finder – was insufficient to call the outcome of the proceeding into question?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner (Bennie Golston) was indicted at the May 12, 2009 term of the Lexington County Grand Jury for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN) (2009-GS-32-5027). Matthew C. Buchanan, Esquire and David M. Mauldin, Esquire represented Petitioner. On May 13-14, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to trial and was found guilty as indicted. The Honorable R. Knox McMahon sentenced him to confinement for ten (10) years imprisonment for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN).

Applicant filed a timely notice of appeal. Assistant Appellate Defender LaNelle Canty DuRant of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense represented Applicant on his appeal. A Final Brief of Respondent was submitted on June 10, 2011. A Final Brief of Appellant was submitted on June 17, 2011. The South Carolina Court of Appeals heard arguments on May 13, 2012. Applicant's conviction and sentence were affirmed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. State v. Golston, 399 S.C. 393, 732, S.E.2d 175 (2012). Applicant then filed a Petition for Rehearing on June 19, 2012 which was denied on September 13, 2012. Applicant then filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on December 13, 2012. The State filed its return to petition for writ of certiorari on December 31, 2012. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the petition on December 5, 2013. The remittitur was issued on December 11, 2013.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 27, 2013. Respondent filed a return to this application dated June 13, 2014. Petitioner filed an amended application for post-conviction relief on April 13, 2015 and a second amended application for post-conviction relief on October 1, 2015.

On December 9, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Lexington County Courthouse before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. Patrick Schmeckpeper, Esquire, represented the State, and Kristy Goldberg, Esquire represented Petitioner. On February 1, 2016, Judge Brown issued an Order of Dismissal, denying Petitioner post-conviction relief. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR Court's finding that Petitioner did not meet his burden to prove counsel ineffective in failing to obtain a larger, color version of a booking photograph is supported by probative evidence in the record where 1) counsel's investigation was reasonable under the circumstances; and 2) the corroborative value of the photograph – as determined by the fact finder – was insufficient to call the outcome of the proceeding into question.

Petitioner argues counsel was ineffective for failing to locate a larger, color version of the black and white photograph in his booking report. A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its reasonableness under professional norms. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland v. Washington). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland v. Washington. Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Applicant such that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Id. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). In other words, where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just

result. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

1) Deficient Performance

Petitioner argues counsel's failure to find the color photograph – which he says would have corroborated his theory of self-defense at trial – constituted deficient performance. Respondent disagrees, and submits the PCR Court's contrary findings are supported by probative evidence in the record.

Without a doubt, “[a] criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty is limited to a *reasonable investigation*.” Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331-32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (*emphasis added*). Accordingly, the controlling standard for counsel's duty to investigate is reasonableness. Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 457, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

In this case, the record supports the PCR Court's finding that counsel's failure to locate the color-version of Petitioner's booking photograph did not fall below the level of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms. App. p. 591. Counsel testified that he looked for a color-version of Petitioner's booking photograph, but was unable to find one. App. p. 524, l. 4-6. Counsel said that he believed he requested a copy from the jail. Id. Based on the circumstances of the case – as they existed leading up to Petitioner's trial – counsel had compelling reasons to believe further investigation into Petitioner's injuries would have been fruitless. The black and white booking photo counsel had access to did not show any visible scars or markings on Petitioner's face. More importantly, the booking report itself stated that Petitioner had no visible marks or scars at the time of his arrest. App. p. 519, l. 12-16; Defendant's Exhibit No. 1. Counsel could have reasonably believed time spent continuing to search for the photograph would have been better spent elsewhere.

Admittedly, with the benefit of hindsight and the color photograph in hand,¹ it may very well be tempting to argue counsel should have taken *some* extra step or further efforts in tracking it down. The mere fact, however, that Petitioner was able to find it does not relieve him of his burden to prove counsel's performance was actually deficient. Petitioner has not presented any evidence outlining what efforts were actually required to obtain the photograph. There is no evidence in the record that the color version of the photograph was readily available, or that but for counsel's failure to take reasonable steps he would have been able to locate it. Without establishing how counsel could have gotten the photographs, it is impossible – without a high level of speculation – to determine whether his failure to do so was objectively unreasonable.

As Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove deficient performance, there is probative evidence in the record in support of the PCR Court's findings. Certiorari should therefore be denied.

2) Prejudice

a.

There is also probative evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove prejudice. First, this Court owes great deference to the probative weight assigned to the photographs by the fact finder in this case, who had the opportunity to hear testimony live and observe the witnesses' demeanor. See Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005) (PCR Court's findings of facts and conclusions of law are entitled to great deference); see also, Gavin v. State, 473 So.2d 952, 955 (1985) ("even if we wanted to be fact finders, our capacity for such is limited in that we have only a cold, printed record to review. The trial judge who hears the witnesses live, observes their demeanor and in

¹ Taking into account its limited corroborative value. See Prejudice, infra.

general smells the smoke of the battle is by his very position far better equipped to make findings of fact which will have the reliability that we need and desire”); *Harris v. Dir., Office of Workers' Comp. Programs, U.S. Dep't of Labor*, 3 F.3d 103, 106–07 (4th Cir.1993) (“Factfinders exist for definite purposes, one of which is to observe the demeanor of [witnesses]. Appellate courts are well-positioned to determine whether a factual finding is without support in the evidence; we are much less able simply to overturn a factfinder on a question on which two views of the evidence are possible.... Factfinders routinely resolve discrepancies between evidentiary sources, and by being able to observe testimony first-hand, they are in the best position to do so.”).

The PCR Court found that it was not clear what the photograph actually depicted, and that its corroborative value was too limited to call the outcome of the proceeding into question where it was unclear what the marks actually were, when they were made, and whether they were marks on Petitioner’s face or simply marks on the photograph itself. App. p. 592. In deciding how to weigh the photographs, the PCR Court also emphasized the fact that Petitioner’s actual booking report did not indicate that he had any scars, marks, or tattoos at the time the picture was taken. App. p. 592. These factual findings are entitled to a high degree of deference, and should not be disturbed. Certiorari should therefore be denied.

b.

There is also no evidence the photograph would have affected the outcome of the proceeding in light of the evidence presented at trial. Taking into account the victim’s injuries, Petitioner’s self-defense story is utterly unbelievable. C.f., Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 573, 586 S.E.2d 562, 564-65 (2003) (failure to request self-defense charge not prejudice where defendant’s testimony was unsupported by the physical evidence and highly incredible).

Petitioner testified at trial that he acted in self-defense. Petitioner lived with the victim,² and said that on the night of the incident he left the victim's house to go to a nearby barbecue. App. p. 291, l. 13-16. Petitioner testified that he stayed at the barbecue for roughly an hour, and then returned to the victim's house. App. p. 291, l. 21-25. Upon returning, Petitioner said the victim met him outside "furious." App. p. 292, l. 1-4. The victim walked off and told Petitioner that she was "going," to which Petitioner – following – responded "you ain't going nowhere." App. p. 292, l. 4-5. Petitioner testified that the victim then "turned around and jumped on me, clawed me in the face." App. p. 292, l. 7-9. Petitioner said she

clawed me on both sides of my nose and must be a thumb cut my lip all the way through, stuck her fingernails all the way down in my face.

App. p. 292, l. 11-13. Petitioner testified that he responded by "slapping her" on both sides of her face and walking into the victim's house. App. p. 292, l. 14-19. Inside, Petitioner said he wiped the blood off of his face, went into the victim's bedroom, and picked up a hatchet.³ App. p. 292, l. 19-22. He said he then heard the victim say "Ben, come help me get up," at which point he "knew [the victim] was sorry" and realized everything was alright. App. p. 292, l. 20-24. Petitioner said he laid the hatchet on the car and took the victim back up to her house before leaving. App. p. 292, l. 24 - p. 293, l. 15.

To the limited extent the color photograph corroborates Petitioner's story, his version of events is utterly inconsistent with the injuries suffered by the victim. The severity of the victim's injuries was such that the Court of Appeals found they were serious as a matter of law, to the point where it was not possible for the jury to have found Petitioner guilty of CDV but not guilty

² Whether Petitioner actually cohabitated with the victim was a subject of contention at trial. Ultimately, the jury found they lived together sufficient to find him guilty of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature.

³ On cross-examination, Petitioner explained that he picked up the hatchet because he was "going home." App. p. 298, l. 9-11. He said he was just "taking [the hatchet] with [him]." App. p. 298, l. 12-13. Petitioner testified that he did not carry a hatchet often. App. p. 298, l. 14-19.

of CDVHAN.⁴ App. p. 420-22. The victim testified that she saw Petitioner getting agitated, but did not realize how angry he was until he struck her. App. p. 125, l. 1-10. She said she tried to flee after he struck her again, attempting to get into her car, only to be dragged out and beaten “[m]any, many, many times” while Petitioner straddled her on the ground. App. p. 125, l. 7 - p. 126, l. 11. Petitioner also threatened to kill her with a hatchet. App. p. 126, l. 22 - p. 127, l. 18.⁵ Concerning her injuries, the victim testified that she was in terrific pain from the beating, and had to crawl inside her house after Petitioner left her injured on the ground. She suffered permanent damage to her vision, and had difficulty breathing and feeding herself for several days. App. p. 125-135. Her account of her injuries was substantiated by the photographs entered as evidence, as well as testimony from the officers who came to the scene, the victim’s son,⁶ and the trauma nurse who was on duty when the victim was brought in to the emergency room by ambulance. App. p. 168-69; 172-73; 187-88; 228-31; 242-48; 252-58; State’s Exhibits 11-25 [Photographs].

Given the severity and of the victim’s injuries, Petitioner’s claim that he only slapped her twice is unbelievable. As a result, even taking into account the limited corroborative value of the color version of Petitioner’s booking photograph, Respondent submits there is still no reasonable likelihood that but for counsel’s alleged deficiency the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Because Petitioner has failed to meet his burden to show prejudice, certiorari should be denied.

⁴ Criminal domestic violence and criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, respectively.

⁵ Understandably, the victim testified that she had trouble with the exact sequence of events because she was hit “so quickly and so many times.” App. p. 126, l. 14-18.

⁶ The victim’s son testified the swelling was so pronounced that, upon arriving on the scene, her face was so swollen that he did not recognize her. App. p. 418; p. 243, l. 5-18.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.